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NIHOP and NCP RFQ Addendum 2 
RFQ issue date: December 12, 2014 

Addendum 2 issue date: January 26, 2015 
 
 
Contents of the Addendum 
 
A. Questions and Answers – Enclosed is a summary of questions 
and answers discussed at the pre-submission conference that took 
place January 9, 2015. Also included are questions and answers that 
were sent to the NIHOP & NCP email address. 
 
B. Contact Information – Contact Information is provided for those 
individuals who attended the pre-submission conference and indicated 
that they are willing to share their contact information. 
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A.  Questions and Answers 
 
 
Sites 
 
Q1. Why did the number of sites increase so much since the release of 
the RFQ? 
A. Addendum 1 included all of the individual blocks and lots, whereas the 
count from the original Appendix A reflected development assemblages, 
which may have included more than one lot. 
 
Q2. Do any of the sites have community gardens or other uses on 
them? 
A.  Some of the sites have interim use/uses on them, including Green Thumb 
Interim Gardens.  There are two types of gardens: One type of garden is 
under the jurisdiction of the Parks Department. Parks Department gardens 
are permanent gardens. None of the RFQ sites include a permanent garden.  
The second type of garden is under HPD’s jurisdiction and this is a Green 
Thumb Interim Garden.  These sites are intended for housing development, 
but gardeners are permitted to use them in the interim.  Gardeners signed an 
agreement to that effect and were aware that those sites would be developed 
in the future.   
 
Q3. Are all of the sites in the RFQ publicly owned? 
A.  Yes. 
 
Q4. Are there environmental issues with the sites? 
A. It is the selected developer’s responsibility to do all necessary 
environmental investigation and, if warranted, testing and remediation. 
 
 
Q5. Are any of the sites a brownfield?  
A. HPD is not aware of any of the sites being a brownfield. 
 
Q6. I would like to inquire about certain sites in the RFQ. 
A. In general, Applicants should rely on the information provided in Appendix 
A and Addendum 1 for the Qualifications submission.  Qualifications must be 
submitted for all of the NIHOP or NCP sites included in the RFQ 
Neighborhood/Area for which you are applying.  Keep in mind that you are not 
submitting site-specific information at this stage of the RFQ. 
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RFQ Neighborhoods 
 
Q1. Why are all of the HPD lots listed in low income communities? Or 
are there just not any HPD lots in wealthy communities? 
A. The RFQ includes lots in city-ownership that are of a size and zoning that 
is consistent with the programming of NIHOP or NCP.  Additionally, for 
NIHOP, sites were only included if there were enough to cluster the sites, 
which makes a project financially feasible.   
 
 
Q2. Please explain the Neighborhoods/Areas 
A. Applicants should use Appendix A and the revised list of 
Neighborhoods/Areas included in Addendum 1 to identify the 
Neighborhood(s)/Area(s) and program (NIHOP or NCP or both) for which they 
wish to apply. Identification of that Neighborhood/Area in the Qualifications 
submission indicates a desire to develop all of the sites in that 
Neighborhood/Area and of that program type. 
 
Q3. On the original RFQ the sites are listed in clusters, do we have to 
apply for ALL the sites within a cluster? 
A. Qualifications submissions are for all of the sites within a cluster (RFQ 
Neighborhood/Area). 
 

 
Information from the Pre-Submission Conference Presentation 
 
Q1. I would like to know if there is a power point presentation for the 
info session held last week as I was unable to attend. 
A. The PowerPoint presentation will not be distributed.  All the Questions and 
Answers from the sessions are included in this addendum.  
 
 
Development Team/Partnerships 

 
Q1. Do you have a list of the people/companies at the pre-submission 
conference on January 9th? 
A. In this addendum (Addendum 2), contact information is provided for those 
individuals who attended the pre-submission conference and indicated that 
they are willing to share their contact information.  
 
 
Q2. Can Sponsors apply in multiple applications as both a joint venture 
and individual entities? 
A. You are welcome to submit qualifications as a joint venture or individual 
entity.  The number of submissions you make should be based on whether 
the Development Team structure changes.  In other words, if the 
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Development Team structure is the same, it should be one submission, but 
you may indicate different neighborhoods.  If the Development Team 
structure changes, you should submit a separate qualification package.   
 
 
Q3. I see the RFQ mentions that we need to include a JV agreement and 
an Org chart. Can you please clarify how detail this JV agreement has to 
be structured? Also, is an Org chart a requirement? 
A. Developers are not required to have a joint venture agreement.  
Submissions must include an organizational chart and a staffing plan. 
 
 
Q4. Can developers reach out to the service providers in the room 
today? 
A. Yes, if you’ve signed in and selected to have your contact information 
shared, that information will be included in Addendum 2. 
 
 
Q5. Does the General Contract need to be licensed? 
A. Yes. 
 
 
Q6. Will a special inspections firm will be required on the developer’s 
team?  
A. No, that is not a required part of the team.  Please review Section II 
“Definitions,” in the RFQ. 
 
Q7. In the Management Questionnaire, it references staff needing to 
have the following certifications: RAM or IREM certification, tax credit 
certification, commercial real estate broker’s license, etc. If board 
members have this experience, particularly a commercial real estate 
broker’s license, can this be included? 
A. Applicants may submit this information, but it is not required at this stage of 
the process. 
 
Q8. It seems that more seasoned developers have an advantage over 
newer developers? 
A. The goal of the RFQ is to develop affordable housing, so the ability to 
finance, development experience for projects of this size and type in general, 
and successful development experience in the RFQ neighborhood in 
particular (as indicated by previously acquired letters of support) are the 
primary qualifications. If you do not have experience, you may want to 
consider partnering with a team that does. 
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Submission Information 

 
Q1. How many financial support letters do developers need to provide in 
the initial qualifications submission? 
A. It’s not a set quantity, but we would like to see that you have worked with a 
lender before and that lender is willing to finance a project of the type/scope 
you are applying for in the RFQ.  As indicated in Section V, Subsection I of 
the RFQ: 
 
“Applicant should attach letters of reference from banks, syndicators, or 
investors with whom the Applicant has worked in the past five years that will 
speak to the Applicant’s successful development experience with similar 
projects and appropriateness to work on a project of the type requested as 
well as the lenders willingness to lend for a project of the type (NIHOP or 
NCP or both) requested in the submission.” 
 
 
Q2. What does HPD mean by a community support letter? 
A. This is a letter from a Community Board or Councilmember or other 
representative body in the neighborhood that speaks to the quality of a 
development project completed in the neighborhood.  If you do not have that, 
but have another type of letter of support, you should submit what you have.  
Just a reminder, the letter must have been received prior to the release of the 
RFQ.  HPD will not evaluate letters received after the RFQ release. 
 
 
Q3. Is FS only a PFS (Personal) or business, or both? 
A. The Qualifications package should include both.  Personal financial 
statements are for the Principals only. 
 
 
Q4. Are we printing out excel sheets or emailing for submission? 
A. Please follow the submission guidelines in the RFQ.  They can be found in 
Section V. Submission Requirements and Qualification Process. 
 
 
Q5. Is it true that we must have a not-for profit listed to rent/sell units? 
A. No, Development Teams are not required to have a not-for profit member 
as an initial member of the Team to rent/sell the units. 
 
 
Q6. Is it true that we need a licensed real estate agent listed in our 
package? Does agent have to specialize in affordable housing? 
A. No, Development Teams are not required to have a real estate agent listed 
in the Qualifications package.   
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Q7. When should a developer indicate NYSERDA funding? 
A. Information on NYSERDA funding may be included if/when the 
Development Team is asked to submit a proposal for specific sites. 
 

 
Design 
 
Q1. There are new New Construction standards where there is a 3-
bedroom requirement. Would that apply here? 
A. There is no unit distribution requirement in this NIHOP/NCP RFQ. Please 
review the term sheets. 
 
 
 
RFQ Proposals for Competitive Qualified Sponsors 
 
Q1. Once HPD pick the developers for this RFQ, how much time will the 
teams have to assemble the rest of the information (ie, architectural 
plans etc) when HPD ask for additional material? 
A. Teams will be given adequate time to produce the additional information. 
 
 
 
Financing 

 
Q1. What is the equity requirement for the NIHOP and NCP programs?  
What developer fee would sponsors be eligible for?   
A. Equity Requirement: For NIHOP and NCP, there is an equity requirement 
of at least 10% of the total development cost (TDC).  
 
A. Developer Fee: For NIHOP, the Term Sheet states: 
 

“The total developer fee should not exceed 10% of the total development 
costs excluding the developer fee and subordinate land value and be fully 
deferred at construction loan closing. Consultant fees should be paid from 
the developer fee.” 

 
For NCP, the Term Sheet states:  
 

“A developer’s fee is only allowed when tax credits are used or funds are 
combined with other public subsidy programs allowing such fees. As 
described in the HPD Low Income Housing Tax Credit Qualified Action 
Plan (QAP), total developer fee is not to exceed 15% of improvement 
costs (excluding developer fee, reserves, and syndication and partnership 
expenses) and 10% of acquisition costs for tax credit projects. The total 
fee should be fully deferred at construction loan closing. The fee payable 
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at conversion shall not be greater than 50% of the total developer fee. 
Consultant fees should be paid from the developer fee.” 

 
 
Q2. After sales of units/homes to eligible purchasers, how are the 
proceeds distributed to the sponsor?  If the conventional lender is paid 
off, are proceeds then used to pay down HPD debt (e.g. – an 
enforcement mortgage)? 
A. At the sale of the homes (end loan closings), an enforcement note and 
mortgage are executed and recorded against the home(s) to secure pro rata 
amount of the land debt and city and state subsidies made available to the 
project.  The sales proceeds are used to pay off the construction loan and 
other approved project costs including the developer's fee and equity 
contribution.  The developer's fee under NIHOP is capped and cannot exceed 
10% of total projects costs. Additional sales proceeds are generally returned 
to the city or used to fund approved unbudgeted project costs.        
 
 
Q3. What are expectations for 9% tax credits or with other less 
competitive financing sources? 
A. HPD expects a range of projects with different affordability based on 
neighborhood needs. Projects proposing competitive financing must also 
provide a non-competitive scenario. 
 
 
Q4. For program financing, should there be forward committed 
financing? 
A. Yes. 
 
 
Q5. Is self-financing acceptable?  
A. Yes. There must be clear evidence of ability to finance. 
 
 
Q6. The NCP program term sheet lists maximum AMI levels of 165% 
AMI. Are there any lower AMI levels or AMI tiers accommodated through 
this program?  
A. Term sheets identify the maximum AMI level.  The proposed AMI tiers 
should be within term sheets requirements and reflect the AMI of the 
population living in that area, as indicated by market comparables.   
 
 
Q7. For NCP, will there be a preference for projects that will include one 
third of its units that target 80% AMI? 
A. No. It is up to the developer to propose the affordability levels, but HPD is 
looking for affordability levels that are consistent with the neighborhood. 
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Q8. For NIHOP, are there affordability restrictions for both renters and 
homeowners? 
A. Yes. For homeowners, the homes must be affordable to households 
earning up to 130% of AMI, but preference is given to projects in which one 
third of the units are affordable to homeowners earning 80-90% AMI.  For 
renters, projects may have rental units affordable to renters earning up to 
165% of AMI, but for those pursuing State (AHC) financing, other AMI 
restrictions may apply.  
 
 
Q9. What kind of affordability is HPD is looking for?  
A. Term sheets identify the maximum AMI level.  The proposed AMI tiers 
should be within term sheets requirements and reflect the AMI of the 
population living in that area, as indicated by market comparables.   
 
 
Q10. Is there a specific formula for affordability in terms of sales of 
NIHOP units? We know the AMI figures, but what type of assumptions 
can we make about mortgages, down payments and the like? 
A. Those Development Teams that are asked to submit a Proposal for 
specific sites will be provided with a pro-forma, which indicates assumptions.  
This information should not be included in the initial qualifications submission. 
 
 
Q11. Will the sites be sold for the nominal value of $1 per lot? 
A. Yes. 
 
 
Q12. Please speak to the private sites eligibility and the purchase price 
for those? 
A. This is an RFQ for City-owned sites only. While there are term sheets for 
the NIHOP and NCP programs that apply to privately owned sites, this is 
geared towards the City-owned sites only. Please refer to the term sheets. 
 
 
Q13. When do developers have to provide the conceptual breakdown of 
affordability? 
A. Those Development Teams that are asked to submit a Proposal for 
specific sites will be provided with a pro-forma and the Development Team 
will use that format to indicate the affordability breakdown.  In Tab B of the 
initial Qualifications submission, however, Applicants may discuss their 
approach to developing affordable housing in the Neighborhood/Area for 
which they are applying.   
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Q14. What is the preference for financing of the NCP sites? 
A. This is flexible. Based on the needs of the neighborhood, a Development 
Team can propose a low-income project or a moderate or middle-income 
project.  
 
 
Q15. Are the NCP units rent stabilized? 
A. Yes. 
 
 
Q16. Is there an opportunity to propose a co-op project for NCP? 
A. No, this is a rental program. 
 
 
Q17. I am uncertain about the benefit of a developer signing up for these 
projects. If we develop these city owned sites – do we get ownership of 
them at the end of the project?  When seeking financing, will our lender 
be able to place a lien and note against the property? What is the 
lender’s security if we do not own the property? 
A. On all sites, the designated Developer will take title to the property prior to 
constructing the project and will be responsible for developing the sites as 
affordable housing.  The construction/permanent lender would have a first lien 
on the property and HPD subsidy would be subordinate. 
  
 
 
Marketing 

 
Q1. Do the homeowners have to income-qualify the renters? 
A. No, HPD anticipates that the developer will assist the homeowner to rent 
up under marketing guidelines; however, HPD will provide additional 
information on this process to those selected to develop sites. 
 
 
Q2. Is there a 50% community preference for the rental units? 
A. Yes. This will follow the HPD/HDC marketing guidelines. 
 
 
Program 

 
Q1. Is there a priority for special needs housing? And what are 
marketing requirements? 
A. There is no preference for supportive housing.  All units will go through 
standard HPD/HDC marketing, which includes a 5% mobility impairment 
preference and a 2% visual and hearing impairment preference. 
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Evaluation of Qualifications 
 
Q1. Will the RFQ award points specifically for non-profit applicants? Are 
non-profit applicants prioritized in any way?  
A. Points will not be awarded specifically for being a nonprofit. The RFQ 
evaluates neighborhood experience.  Nonprofits should emphasize their 
experience in the RFQ Neighborhood for which they are applying in Tab B – 
Neighborhood Preference(s). 
  
 
Q2. How are the different categories weighed? 
A. They are weighted equally for establishing a list of Qualified Sponsors. 
 
 
Q3. Will you share the scoring criteria for the RFQ? 
A. Evaluation categories are listed in the RFQ.  HPD will not provide 
additional information on scoring. 
 
 
Q4. For local experience should we include all local experience in 
developing affordable housing, marketing small homes and rental units, 
counseling and packaging mortgages for home buyers, providing social 
services to tenants? 
A. Yes, all relevant experience should be included.  This information may be 
included.  Please see Tabs B, C, and D in Section V. Submission 
Requirements and Qualifications, Subsection I. Contents of Qualifications and 
Tabbing of the RFQ. 
 
 
Q5. Will HPD keep these applications for other programs?  
A. At this point, HPD intends to evaluate these applications for this RFQ only; 
however, HPD reserves the right to consider the qualifications and sites for 
other types of programming at its discretion. 
 
 
Designation 
 
Q1. What is the timetable for developer designation? 
A. HPD anticipates establishing a Qualified Sponsors List by spring/early 
summer of this year, but that timetable is dependent on the number of 
qualified applications we receive through the RFQ process. 
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Q2. Is it possible a developer to be selected for multiple sites/clusters? 
A. Yes, developers apply for one or more RFQ Neighborhood(s)Area(s) and 
are not limited to selection for one neighborhood/Area.  Selection will be 
based on qualifications, including the ability to finance the project. 
 
Approvals 
 
Q1. Do these sites require City approvals? 
A. It varies from site to site. In most cases, projects will need approval from 
the Council and the Mayor’s Office of Contract Services.  For projects that 
include buildings with more than four units, ULURP will be required. 
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B. Contact Information 
 

Last Name First Name Organization Email Phone 

Alexandrov Alex Atlas Builders alex@theatlasbuilders.com 516-382-0645 

Alizio Paul A-1 Realty Inc Paul@pjalizio.com  516-203-3900 

Arcaro Greg Westhab Greg.Arcaro@Westhab.org 914-589-2090 

Beamish Jennifer Lawyers Alliance for New York jbeamish@lawyersalliance.org 212-219-1800 

Beck Peter Forsyth Street pbeck@forsythstreet.com 212-792-8593 

Biller Alan LISC Abiller@lisc.org 212-455-9749 

Bollinger William Spectrum Development spectrumdevelopment@hotmail.com 917-64-8327 

Bramwell Chris Shinda Management chris.bramwell@shindamgmtcorp.com 347-534-3214 

Brito Alex RKTB Architects Abrito@rktb.com 212-807-9500  

Bronner Gregory 
 

gbronner@alumni.princeton.edu 
 Capece Paul Pacs Architecture pcapece@pacsarch.com 347-475-0381 

Casolari Bruno Highbridge CDC BCasolari@highbridgecdc.com  718-293-3100 

Cella Paul Jsmith Construction jsmithconstruction@verizon.net 718-317-7348 

Chan Grace Off Site Real Estate GC@offsiterealestate.com 212-777-2693 

Chang Rosa Pure Development rosa@pure-d.com  
 Charney Matt LISC Mcharney@lisc.org 212-455-5627 

Clare Nicole Settlement Housing Fund nclare@shfinc.org 212-265-6530 

Cohen Daniel 
Housing Partnership 
Development Corp dcohen@housingpartnership.com 646-217-3373 
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D'Avola Sal Neighborhood Restore sdavola@neighborhoodrestore.com 212-584-8981 

Delaine Jerrod Carthage Advisors jdelaine@carthagerea.com 917-482-1162 

Edwards Shenika 
 

shenikaedwards870@gmail.com 929-257-6052 

Espinosa Henry  Voda Bauer Real Estate henry@vodabauer.com 646-373-9586 

Garneau Robert Architecture Workshop robert@aw-pc.com 917-865-3327 

Green James 
 

ubcsaintly@verizon.net 
 Greenspan Richard RG Consulting richard@rgconsultingllc.com 718-594-0125 

Hakimi Joshua 
 

xoxuinho@gmail.com 917-532-0788 

Henzy Tim Rockabill Advisors thenzy@rockabilladvisors.com 212-682-0497 

Hernandez Loretta WG Associates loretta@wgassociates.nyc 212-722-3126 

Herrick Steven Cooper Square Committee  steveh@coopersquare.org 212-228-8210 

Hoffman Wendy Iris Development Corporation whoffman@irisdevco.com 916-390-6697 

Jandricek Andrea Design AIDD Architecture andrea.j@designaidd.com 212-255-5056 

Jobe Olga Habitat New York ojobe@habitatnyc.org  
 Jorge Maria Elena Lemor Realty mariaelena@lemorrealty.com 917-736-0158 

Kennedy Vanessa Lemor Realty vanessa@lemorrealty.com 718-219-5580 

Kuehl Kaja 
You are the City/Columbia 
University kaja@youarethecity.com 917-916-5478 

Lappin Michael Consultant mlappin1993@gmail.com 
 Lauros Shai Cypress Hills shail@cypresshills.org  917-893-8801 

Leeds Barbara Highbridge CDC BLeeds1@aol.com 917-673-4308 

Longbothum Erin Neighborhood Restore Elongbothum@NeighborhoodRestore.com 212-584-8981 

Mack Casey Popular Architecture cmack@populararchitecture.com 646-637-8441 

Mahedy Nick 
 

nickmahedy@me.com 917-865-0227 
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Marengo Albert GHS Architects Albert@ghsarchitects.com 212-966-0094 

Martin James Martin Family Office jay@martinfamilyoffice.com 
 

Martin Sheila 
Housing Partnership 
Development Corp smartin@housingpartnership.com 

 

Maxwell Helen 
NHS Development 
Corporation helen.maxwell@nhsj.org 718-517-6645 

Mehta Parag PM Architecture Pmehta@pmarchitecture.com 
 Murray Colin Green Street colin@greenstreetinc.com 978-549-1566 

Notice Donald 
West Harlem Group 
Assistance dnotice@whgainc.org 

 

O'Hara Hedwig Lawyers Alliance for New York hohara@lawyersalliance.org 
 Osbourne Robert Offsite Studios robert@robertosbourne.com 718-288-5414 

Pajaro Margarita Shinda Management margarita.pajaro@cbemmanuel.com 347-534-3213 

Pinto Ian Design AIDD Architecture ian@designaidd.com 212-255-5056 

Piscopia Anthony HAKS A&E apiscopia@haks.net 
 Prall Mary 596 Acres mary@596acres.org 718-316-6092 

Punter Malcolm 

Harlem Congregations for 
Community Improvement, Inc 
(HCCI) mpunter@hcci.org 212-281-4887 ext. 213 

Randolph Marcus TCB mrandolph@tcbinc.org 
 Reed Michael Selling Agent Rmikereed4@aol.com  914-403-4709 

Riso James Briarwood 
 

718-229-4300 

Romines Douglas Romines Architecture douglas@rominesarchitecture.com 646-262-4656 
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Rouhotas Marcia GKC Industries mrouhotas@gkcindustries.com 718-357-8900 

Rune Kongshaug PRODUKTIF rune@producktif.com 917-400-1231 

Runyon Scott Bridge Street Development srunyon@bsdcorp.org 609-356-4162 

Sanchez Daphany Solar One daphany@solar1.org 347-581-9353 

Sanchez Gilbert Apex gsanchez@apexb.com 212-663-6288 

Segal Paula 596 Acres paula@596acres.org 
 Shavolian Ben shelter rock builders bshavo@srbuild.com  516-773-7747 ext 18 

Sims Erica MHANY esims@mutualhousingny.org 
 Sosa Stephanie RBSCC ssosa@rbscc.org  
 Sprague Emily Perez Architecture esprague@e-perez.com 917-966-1777 

Stefanski Annie Neighborhood Restore Astefanski@NeighborhoodRestore.com 
 Thompson Ryan Goldstein Hall rthompson@goldsteinhall.com 646-768-4111 

Tillard Tamecca Element 9 ttillard@element9.com 212-832-0768 

Ting Sigmund Yuco Management Sigmund.Ting@yucoinc.com 212-994-2201 

Tran Andrew Urban View andrew@urban-view.com 917-705-7052 

Wala Ericka Keller Brisa Builders erickakeller-wala@brisabuilders.com 718-774-6103 

Walls Saiydah 
West Harlem Group 
Assistance Swalls@whgainc.org 212-862-1399 

Widerkehr Deborah Consultant dawiderkehr@gmail.com 
 Williams Dawanna Dabar dwilliams@dabardevelopment.com 212-653-8878 

Williams Kermit 
 

pastorkermitt@aol.com  
 Wong PC 

 
pakcheungwong@msn.com 917-673-0620 

Zhao Hillary Perez Architecture hzhao@e-perez.com 917-966-1777 

Zopf Rob Hour Children robz@hourchildren.org 718-433-4724 


